0/a 11-7-87

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLOR DA

FALED WHITE

AUG 7 1987

187

WALTER BLACKSHEAR,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

CASE WORLD COURT

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

MICHAEL E. ALLEN PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CARL S. MCGINNES ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR #230502 POST OFFICE BOX 671 TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32302 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT PETITIONER'S MOTION TO STRIKE OR DISMISS THE JURY PANEL, WHERE THE STATE EXERCISED EIGHT OF NINE PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES UPON BLACK MEMBERS OF THE PANEL, THUS RAISING A PRIMA FACIE SHOWING OF DISCRIMINATION BASED UPON RACE, AND THE STATE'S REASONS GIVEN FOR THE EXCLUSION OF BLACKS FROM THE JURY WERE INSUFFICIENT, CONTRARY TO ARTICLE I, SECTION 16, CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA, AND AMENDMENTS V AND XIV, CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES.

The record in this case shows that during jury selection, petitioner moved to strike the jury panel, contending the state had exercised nine challenges, with eight of them being directed toward black jurors. The prosecutor claimed the motion was untimely and requested an opportunity to examine his notes and inform the court of the reasons each black potential juror was excluded. The motion to strike was denied (T-171-172). At the hearing held on petitioner's motion for a new trial, the prosecutor gave his reasons for excluding the eight black jurors. The motion for a new trial was denied (R-62-87).

Petitioner contends the trial court erred in denying his motion to strike and his motion for a new trial, since petitioner made a prima facie showing of racial discrimination that was not sufficiently rebutted by the state's reasons for striking the eight black potential jurors. In order to properly understand this issue, the statements of the excluded jurors on voir dire and the prosecutor's reasons for excluding them must

be compared and contrasted with those of the jurors who actually served on the jury at petitioner's trial.

plant, who lives with his mother. He had two children, ages 3 and 4 (T-16-17). The prosecutor excluded Barrens for the following reasons:

MR. FINA: But Mr. Beauti, while I was questioning him, he said that he had two children although he was single and never married. That was one of the reasons that I decided to strike him. Also, while I was asking him some questions, he had a pair of dark glasses on, he was not looking at me when he was responding. I could not get a good feel for his truthfulness of his answers by the way he was responding to my questions. And for those reasons, I did strike him.

I also seem to remember him from something and I didn't know what it was. I didn't know if I prosecuted him or if he had been here as a witness, but there was something that I could not determine what it was. For those reasons, I struck Mr.

(R-72).

REFERENCE E

Remarks is a married, self employed carpenter, who has lived in Madison County for 30 years. Employed has an 11 year old son and his wife is employed at Gold-Kist Poultry (T-15-16, 28). The prosecutor excluded Employed for the following reasons:

MR. FINA: Mr. E worked at a -- I think he was a Carpenter or a Carpenter's apprentice and had worked at a pulpwood or something, or worked in some kind of pulpwood. Ms. Rosier also was here and Ms. Rosier had prosecuted someone that worked for that same company for a similar type offense that -- a child sexual battery. I asked him if he knew who he was but he didn't recall if he did or not. For that reason -- also, while I was talking to him, he smiled at each question. Every time that I asked him for a response, he seemed to be smiling and I don't know what reason he had for that, maybe he was just happy. But he did not seem to be taking the questions I was asking him or Mr. Stone for that point very seriously and did not seem to be taking this case in a serious matter like it should have been.

(R-72-73).

E W

Originally from Fort Pierce, Washin has lived in Madison County approximately eight years (T-11-12). The prosecutor excused Washing for the following reasons:

MR. FINA: Ms. We was a black juror that I struck. Ms. We was sitting with the defendant's family in the audience prior to the time she was called into the jury box. Afterwards, after I did strike her, she went back and talked to them again but I did notice that she was back there talking to the family prior to the time that I called her into the jury box.

THE COURT: How did you know that it was his family?

MR. FINA: I saw the defendant talking to them prior to that time and I asked one of the witnesses in the courtroom at that point who they were and she -- I was under the impression anyway that that was his family. So, for that reason, I struck Ms. Western

J D

a life-long resident of Madison County, has three adult children and a grandchild. She is not married and works at Red James. She has never been a victim of a crime (T 38-46). The prosecutor excluded Description for the following reasons:

I believe I struck a Ms. Described Ms. Described was a black juror. She works at the Chicken Shack, I believe it was, or Ria Janes' as a cook. There is quite a lot of disturbances and for my two years of prosecuting cases over here, there is quite a bit of criminal activity that goes on around Ria Janes' at night.

Many, many times she has to call law enforcement or someone has to and they have to go to her business. Many times she is called as a witness to testify and just about every time that I can recall, she always has been hesitant in wanting to get involved in anything like that. Understandably, she may have cause for doing that but she did not seem to be to me a fair and impartial juror or could be based on the fact that she has experience in calling the law constantly and being exposed to all the criminal activity.

(R74).

R

Remains Barried with four children, one by his first wife and three by his current wife. He has lived in Madison County 24 years, at the same address for 14 years, and is a driver for Henry Dickinson Timber Company. His wife has

worked at Thompson International Telephone and Telegraph
Industry for 15 years (T-98-99). The prosecutor recited the
following reasons for excusing Mr. B

MR. FINA: Mr. Best or Best I hit it off with him in a bad way right from the beginning. I kept mispronouncing his name. Finally, I asked him how to pronounce his name and he told me and at that point he seemed discouraged and disgusted with me. And every time I did ask him something, he didn't seem to want to respond. I would have to ask him the same questions over and over again.

I asked him also at some point whether or not they knew each other on the panel. And I noticed who was looking around to see who they knew on the panel and he didn't seem to respond to that, and I didn't want to be picking on him by asking whether or not he knew anyone. But he didn't seem to be concerned about the questions that I was asking him, and for that reason, I struck Mr. Because or Because

(R-76).

W A

Wash American is a junior college student interested in criminal justice. He is single and lives with his mother. He has a brother named American (T-60-63). He was excluded because:

MR. FINA: Mr. A Mr

Also, A have prosecuted A several several times in the past, just recently as a matter of fact. He looked just like Mr. A just

like his brother and I talked to him and he said he didn't know anything about me but I'm sure his brother had an opportunity to discuss the case that I prosecuted him for.

(R-73-74).

E Marie Mari

had problems with, but which would not influence her in the instant case (T-89-94). She was excluded because:

MR. FINA: I struck Ms. Manual Ms.

Milliams stated that she was a juror on a Sonny
Williams' case. Sonny Williams was a deputy
here in Madison County prosecuted by our office.

Ms. Milliams said she had a very -- that that
case left a very bad taste in her mouth
regarding our judicial system.

She was uncertain at first whether or not she would be fair and impartial because of the way she was treated in that prior deliberation in that prior case. She seemed to have some hostility toward the system the way it was based on that experience she had with Mr. Williams or in Mr. Williams' case -- criminal case.

And several times she was on the verge of saying that she was sure she couldn't be fair and impartial, but she came across as giving a lot of statements or responses to my questions that she could not be. And for that reason, I struck Ms. Karana --Ms. Management

(R-74-75).

H. J.

Mr. James served in the Air Force, is a resident of Greenville, and is employed at North Florida Plywood. He knows

MR. FINA: Okay. To my memory at this point, I do remember striking a black Harm James Mr. James in response to some of the questions that I asked him — first of all, he did look familiar to me and I did remember that he testified in a jury trial last spring in the case of State v. Randalls, a robbery case. He testified for the defendant as to an alibi and I did ask him whether or not he knew me and he said he wasn't sure. But I do remember thoroughly cross-examining him in that case as to inconsistencies in his statement.

Also, he said that he knew many of the witnesses. He knew the arresting officer. He knew Deputy Ross who was also a potential witness; knew the family. And for those reasons, I struck Mr. James

(R-71).

The above is a summarization of the eight excluded black jurors and the state's expressed reasons for excluding them.

The following persons actually served on the jury:

L F

hospital laboratory, and has lived in Madison County for 10 years (T-151-154).

Name H

Ms. Head married to a self-employed cabinet maker, has lived in Madison County for 15 years and has no children. She is a teller at a local bank (T-114, 120).

District B

Mr. Beans a self-employed insurance man for 23 years, is married and has two married daughters and one grandchild (T-163-164).

B S

Ms. State is married and has two sons and one grandchild. She is an operator for the State Department of Labor, and her husband works for Tri-County Electric (T-165).

Bankson Manager

Bearing Marks is divorced, and has a three year old son. She works at an insurance agency in Valdosta, Georgia, and lives with her parents (T-38-39).

CITY P

Mr. Parametric is married and has two young daughters. He is self-employed, involved in the wholesale nursery and landscaping business (T-14).

In <u>State v. Neil</u>, this Court held that Article I, Section 16, Constitution of the State of Florida, securing the right to an impartial jury, is violated if a party exercises a peremptory challenge to exclude from a jury, because of race, a person

otherwise qualified to serve. In order to effectuate this policy the Court in Neil set forth the following procedure:

The initial presumption is that peremptories will be exercised in a nondiscriminatory manner. A party concerned about the other sides's use of peremptory challenges must make a timely objection and demonstrate on the record that the challenged persons are members of a distinct racial group and that there is a strong likelihood that they have been challenged solely because of their race. If a party accomplishes this, then the trial court must decide if there is a substantial likelihood that the peremptory challenges are being exercised solely on the basis of race. If the court finds no such likelihood, no inquiry may be made of the person exercising the questioned peremptories. On the other hand, if the court decides that such a likelihood has been shown to exist, the burden shifts to the complained-about party to show that the questioned challenges were not exercised solely because of the prospective juror's race. The reasons given in response to the court's inquiry need not be equivalent to those for a challenge for cause. If the party shows that the challenges were based on the particular case on trial, the parties or witnesses, or characteristics of the challenged persons other than race, then the inquiry should end and jury selection should continue. On the other hand, if the party has actually been challenging prospective jurors solely on the basis of race, then the court should dismiss that jury pool and start voir dire over with a new pool.

457 So.2d at 486-487.

Some seven months after <u>Neil</u>, the Supreme Court of the United States decided the case of <u>Batson v. Kentucky</u>, 476 U.S.--, 90 L.Ed.2d 69, 106 S.Ct. -- (1986), in which it was held that a prosecutor's use of peremptory challenges to exclude blacks from a jury trying a black defendant violated

the Equal Protection Clause. The following procedure was set forth in Batson:

[A] defendant may establish a prima facie case of purposeful discrimination in selection of the petit jury solely on evidence concerning the prosecutor's exercise of peremptory challenges at the defendant's trial. To establish such a case, the defendant must first show that he is a member of a cognizable racial group, Casteneda v. Partida, supra, at 494, 51 L Ed 2d 498, 97 S Ct 1272, and that the prosecutor has exercised peremptory challenges to remove from the venire members of the defendant's race. Second, the defendant is entitled to rely on the fact, for which there can be no dispute, that peremptory challenges constitute a jury selection practice that permits "those to discriminate who are of a mind to discriminate." Avery v. Georgia, supra, at 562, 97 L Ed 1244, 73 S Ct 891. Finally, the defendant must show that these facts and any other relevant circumstances raise an inference that the prosecutor used that practice to exclude the veniremen from the petit jury on account of their race. This combination of factors in the empaneling of the petit jury, as in the selection of the venire, raises the necessary inference of purposeful discrimination.

In deciding whether the defendant has made the requisite showing, the trial court should consider all relevant circumstances. For example, a "pattern" of strikes against black jurors included in the particular venire might give rise to an inference of discrimination. Similarly, the prosecutor's questions and statements during voir dire examination and in exercising his challenges may support or refute an inference of discriminatory purpose. These examples are merely illustrative. We have confidence that trial judges, experienced in supervising voir dire, will be able to decide if the circumstances concerning the prosecutor's use of peremptory challenges creates a prima facie case of discrimination against black jurors.

Once the defendant makes a prima facie showing, the burden shifts to the State to come forward with a neutral explanation for challenging black jurors. Though this requirement imposes a limitation in some cases

on the full peremptory character of the historic challenge, we emphasize that the prosecutor's explanation need not rise to the level justifying exercise of a challenge for cause.

90 L.Ed.2d at 87-88.

Although both Neil and Batson are clearly aimed at the same evil, several differences seem to exist between the two cases. First, some language in Neil seems to suggest that race can be a factor in the exercise of peremptory challenges as long as it is not the sole factor. Batson makes it clear that race cannot constitutionally be a factor in jury selection at all. Second, Neil creates a "...presumption...that peremptories will be exercised in a nondiscriminatory manner." 457 So.2d at 486. Batson, by contrast, tells us that "...the defendant is entitled to rely on the fact, as to which there can be no dispute, that peremptory challenges constitute a jury selection practice that permits 'those to discriminate who are of a mind to discriminate.' Petitioner thus contends that the "presumption" recognized in Neil cannot be squared with Batson and, as a consequence, cannot constitutionally exist.

A third significant difference exists between <u>Neil</u> and <u>Batson</u> concerning the showing that the defendant must make to trigger the trial court's inquiry into the state's use of its peremptory challenges. In <u>Neil</u>, note 10, the Court stated that "...the exclusion of a number of blacks by itself is insufficient to trigger an inquiry...." 487 So.2d at 487. But <u>Batson</u> explicitly recognizes that "...a 'pattern' of strikes against black jurors in the particular venire might give rise to an

inference of discrimination." 90 L.Ed.2d at 88. Given the fact that a party in fact discriminating on the basis of race would hardly be expected to admit it in open court, numbers alone are often the only objective factor available to discern the existence of discrimination.

To the extent <u>Neil</u> conflicts with <u>Batson</u> in the three areas discussed above, <u>Batson</u> takes precedence because the <u>Batson</u> approach confers greater protection to the citizen than does <u>Neil</u>. <u>See Sibron v. New York</u>, 392 U.S. 40 (1968) and <u>State v. Small</u>, 483 So.2d 783 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986). There is a fourth distinction between <u>Batson</u> and <u>Neil</u>, in which <u>Neil</u> appears to offer greater protection, and is thus not affected by <u>Batson</u>. Specifically, <u>Neil</u> prohibits either party from discriminating in jury selection on the basis of race, whereas <u>Batson</u> seems to restrict only the government. This difference has an impact on the instant case.

Here, the opinion notes that the defense used its ten peremptory challenges to excuse nine whites and one black (A-2). Although as noted <u>Neil</u> applies to both parties, the state failed to lodge a timely objection to this at trial, a requirement imposed by <u>Neil</u>. Nor did the state attempt to take a cross-appeal on this point in the District Court of Appeal, First District. The state has clearly waived this issue and thus the only question before this Court is whether the state violated <u>Neil</u> and <u>Batson</u> in the case at bar. For the following reasons, petitioner contends it did.

Both <u>Neil</u> and <u>Batson</u> require a "timely" objection. In this case, the lower tribunal hinted that petitioner's objection was not timely, although the court expressly did not rule on the timeliness question (A-3-4). In <u>State v. Castillo</u>, 486 So.2d 565 (Fla. 1986), the Court held that a <u>Neil</u> objection is timely if it is made prior to the jury being sworn. Sub judice, defense counsel's objection (T-170-172) was made prior to the swearing of the jury (T-179). It follows that petitioner's objection was timely.

The next step in the <u>Neil</u> analysis involves determining whether petitioner, in making the timely objection, established "...on the record that the challenged persons are members of a distinct racial group and that there is a strong likelihood that they have been challenged solely because of their race." 457 So.2d at 486. <u>Batson</u> requires that the objection "...must show that he is a member of a cognizable racial group...and that the prosecutor has exercised peremptory challenges to remove from the venire members of the defendant's race." 90 L.Ed.2d at 87. The accused must "...raise an inference that the prosecutor used that practice to exclude the veniremen from the petit jury on account of their race." 90 L.Ed.2d at 88.

It is this burden which the lower tribunal held petitioner failed to carry for the opinion states, "he [petitioner] did not carry his burden of demonstrating that there was a strong likelihood that they were challenged solely because of race" (A-4). In reaching this determination, the lower court

erroneously relied upon note 10 in <u>Neil</u> to the effect that the exclusion of a number of blacks does not per se satisfy the burden, and the "presumption" that peremptories are not used in a discriminatory manner. As noted, neither ground has survived Batson.

In the vast majority of criminal cases in this state each party would have six peremptory challenges, but because the offense here is a capital felony, each party had ten. Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.350. The state exercised nine challenges, and every one of them (100%) were used against black jurors. Of the ten available to the state, nine of them (89%) were directed toward blacks. This is a clear "pattern" which, according to Batson, may give rise to the requisite inference of discrimination. Given these compelling statistics, the inference was established. It should be stressed that Batson requires only an "inference" of discrimination, whereas Neil requires that a "substantial likelihood" of discrimination be shown. Again, petitioner asserts that Batson controls.

Petitioner is not relying merely upon the "numbers" in the instant case but in addition is relying upon those statistics in conjunction with the questions asked the excluded jurors on voir dire, which will be developed, <u>infra</u>, in the discussion regarding the reasons given by the prosecutor for exclusion of the jurors.

Petitioner relies upon <u>State v. Jones</u>, 485 So.2d 1283 (Fla. 1986) and <u>Slappy v. State</u>, 503 So.2d 350 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987). In Jones, the defense based a Neil objection on the fact

that the state used five of its peremptory challenges to remove the five black prospective jurors questioned on voir dire.

According to the lower tribunal's opinion in <u>Jones v. State</u>,

466 So.2d 301 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985), the trial court then refused to require the state to justify its challenges. This Court held that the "...defendant adequately fulfilled his part of the required procedure in Neil." 485 So.2d at 1284.

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