OA 11-3-87

other

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WALTER BLACKSHEAR,

SEP 10 1987

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO. 70,513

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

BEVERLY D. BERRY
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
ATTORNEY NO. 0499005

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Petitioner cites to <u>Davis v. Georgia</u>, 429 U.S. 122, 50 L.Ed.2d 339, 97 S.Ct. 399 (1976) for the proposition that if even one

We turn next to petitioner's assertion that he is not relying merely upon the numbers of blacks excluded by the prosecution, but also upon the reasons for exclusion. In this regard, petitioner contends that the court's opinion is in conflict with this Court's decision in State v. Jones, 485 So.2d 1283 (Fla. 1986), as well as with Slappy v. State, 503 So.2d 350 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987). The State strongly disagrees that Blackshear v. State, 12 F.L.W. 806 (Fla. 1st DCA March 20, 1987) is in conflict with either of these decisions. In fact, the State's position is that the instant case is actually consistent with both opinions.

In <u>Jones</u>, <u>supra</u>, this Court approved the Third District's reversal of the defendant's grand theft conviction on the basis that the trial court had erred in not conducting a <u>Neil</u> inquiry. In that case the State used five of its six peremptory challenges to remove the five black prospective jurors questioned on voir dire. As this Court pointed out, "[e]ach of these had declared that he or she could be fair and impartial and demonstrated no reluctance to sit on the jury. <u>No apparent reason</u>, other than color, for their removal exists." <u>Jones</u> at 1284. (emphasis added). Contrary to petitioner's analysis of

footnote cont.

potential juror is erroneously excluded, petitioner is entitled to a new trial. The State would submit, however, that <u>Davis</u> is inapplicable to the case at bar, in that it dealt with the exclusion of one juror from a death penalty case who voiced only a general objection to the death penalty.

Jones, this Court did not hold a Neil inquiry should have been conducted due to the number of blacks excluded. It was the prospective black jurors' responses and attitudes at voir dire and the fact that no apparent reason for their removal existed on the record that caused this Court to conclude the defendant had met his initial burden of demonstrating a strong likelihood that the peremptory challenges were exercised solely on the basis of race and that, therefore, a Neil inquiry should have been conducted.

Furthermore, the Blackshear opinion is not in express and direct conflict with this Court's decision in Jones. The First District held in Blackshear that the following objection made by petitioner's counsel would not suffice to trigger a Neil inquiry: "Eight challenges have gone to exclude black potential jurors, and [the State] is obviously making an attempt to provide a jury that is of a different race than the defendant" (A 2). order to compel the State to explain its reasons for excluding prospective black jurors, petitioner first had to show there was no other apparent reason for their removal other than their Petitioner never made this showing, as obviously the defendant did in Jones. Accordingly, the First District, relying on this Court's comments in Neil, supra at 487 n.10, held that "the mere exclusion of a number of blacks by itself is insufficient to entitle a party to an inquiry into the other party's use of peremptories." This statement of law does not expressly and directly conflict with this Court's decisions, but

rather is consistent with this Court's prior opinions. See $\underline{\text{Neil}}$, supra, and Woods v. State, supra.

In <u>Slappy v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, the State would point out initally that it has <u>nothing</u> to say with regard to a defendant's initial burden of demonstrating that there is a strong likelihood that the State's peremptory challenges are being exercised against black prospective jurors solely because of their race.

Rather, <u>Slappy</u> discussed the State's burden in articulating neutral reasons for the exclusion of blacks after a prima facie case had been established.

In that regard, the State asserts that the present case is also distinguishable from Slappy. In Slappy, the court found that the trial court had erred when it accepted the state's explanation for the exercise of its peremptories at face value. The court set out the colloquy between the trial judge and the prosecutor regarding those reasons and noted, "With a hint of frustration -- as if legally obligated to accept the State's explanation -- the trial judge concluded his questioning: THE COURT: Anyhow, I made the inquiry." Slappy, supra, at 352. Such is clearly not the case here. Sub judice, the trial judge specifically stated his reasons as to why he found the prosecutor's reasons for exclusion satisfactory. Furthermore, in the present case, unlike in Slappy, the trial judge specifically found that the peremptory challenges were not racially motivated. See also, Kibler v. State, 501 So.2d 76 (Fla. 5th DCA

1987); Parker v. State, 476 So.2d 134 (Fla. 1985).

Finally, petitioner relies upon <u>Slappy</u> to support his contention that the prosecutor's reasons for exercising his peremptories were not supported in the record because he used as reasons some points about which he failed to question individual jurors. Such reasoning ignores the fact that, due to the difference in the size of the communities involved, the prosecutor had personal knowledge of the reasons upon which he based some of his peremptories. In the present case, the crime occurred in the small town of Greenville in Madison County, while the offenses in <u>Slappy</u>, <u>supra</u>, occurred in Dade County. It would be highly unlikely that a prosecutor in Dade County would have personal knowledge regarding individual prospective jurors.

Inasmuch as petitioner has failed to demonstrate that a <u>Neil</u> inquiry was needed in the present case, or, alternatively, that any of the reasons used by the prosecution were invalid, the State submits that petitioner's sexual battery conviction must be affirmed.

ISSUE II (Restated)

PETITIONER HAS FAILED TO REBUT THE PRESUMPTION OF CORRECTNESS WHICH ATTENDS THE TRIAL JUDGE'S CONCLUSION THAT PETITIONER'S CONFESSION WAS FREELY AND VOLUNTARILY MADE; THEREFORE, THIS COURT SHOULD AFFIRM.

Petitioner argues on pages twenty-seven through twenty-nine of his brief that he was told he would be better off if he confessed and he was "threatened" with the electric chair. Petitioner therefore contends that the court erred in concluding the confession was voluntarily made. Petitioner's statement on page twenty-eight, that he was "threatened" with the death penalty, was an issue of fact that was to be determined by the trial court in determining whether the confession was voluntary. Petitioner maintained below that Officer Harris told him at the first interview that if he did not tell what part he had in the sexual battery they were going to give him the electric chair. Officer Harris testified he never "threatened" petitioner with the electric chair. Harris did, however, inform petitioner in the first interview that sexual battery was a capital offense which carried a possible penalty of the electric chair. Harris was unaware at that time that the law had changed and that the chair was no longer a potential penalty.

It is well-established that it is the role of the trial court to judge the credibility of witnesses and weigh conflicting evidence. The trial judge's conclusions come to the appellate

court clothed with a presumption of correctness. Acensio v.

State, 497 So.2d 640 (Fla. 1986). It is not the function of an appellate court to substitute its judgment for that of the trier of fact. State v. Chorpenning, 294 So.2d 54 (Fla. 2d DCA 1974); see also, Cohen v. Mohawk, 137 So.2d 222 (Fla. 1962). The appellate court should interpret the evidence and all reasonable inferences capable of being drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the trial judge's conclusions. DeCastro v. State, 359 So.2d 551 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978); McGriff v. State, 497 So.2d 1296 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986). Applying these principles to the instant case, petitioner cannot now argue he was "threatened" with the electric chair inasmuch as the trial court concluded that he was not.

The sole issue this Court must determine is whether the trial court's ultimate conclusion that the confession was voluntary is clearly without basis in the evidence or predicated upon an incorrect application of the law. State v. Riocabo, 372 So.2d 127 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979). It is undisputed that petitioner was informed of all his rights and that he understood them. Petitioner had been arrested thirty to forty times and on several of those occasions he had been informed of those same rights by arresting officers. Petitioner admitted that on those numerous occasions he knew that he did not have to talk. Petitioner made the confession in this case fully aware of his rights to remain silent, to discontinue questioning, and to request the presence

of an attorney. While he contends he made the confession because he was threatened with the electric chair, on cross-examination petitioner denied being aware of the fact that he was confessing to a crime for which he thought he could get the electric It is interesting to note that after petitioner was allegedly "threatened" with the chair, he denied the allegations. Of course, Officer Harris knew nothing more at that point than allegation that petitioner as well as Brooks, had "messed with her." Over twelve hours later petitioner finally felt the impact of the "threat" and confessed. This was after Harris had informed him that the had told them what had happened and his own investigation substantiated her accusations. Finally, petitioner claimed he was offered the chance to plead to a lewd and lascivious charge in exchange for testimony against Brooks; however, Harris denied such an offer was made.

Resolving these facts in the light most favorable to the trial judge's findings, it is clear petitioner did not confess because he was threatened with the electric chair or because he was told it would be better to admit his part in the crime.

Confessions are not rendered inadmissible because the police tell the accused it would be easier on him if he told the truth.

Paramore v. State, 229 So.2d 855 (Fla. 1969), modified on other grounds, 408 U.S. 935, 92 S.Ct. 2857, 33 L.Ed.2d 751 (1972); Bush v. State, 461 So.2d 936 (Fla. 1985), cert. denied, 106 S.Ct.

1237; Chorpenning, supra, at 56. The only time this would render a confession inadmissible is when the advice of the police officer is accompanied by an inducement or suggestion of a benefit. Frazier v. State, 107 So.2d 16 (Fla. 1958). The police never told petitioner they could get him a lighter sentence if he confessed. Telling petitioner he was charged with a crime punishable by the chair was certainly not an inducement or suggestion of a benefit. If anything it should have encouraged petitioner not to say a word, particularly since he was well aware of his rights from his wealth of experience with the criminal justice system. Even a statement by a law enforcement official, telling an accused only if he confessed would it be possible to escape the death penalty, has been held to be insufficient to render a confession inadmissible where the accused is informed of and understands his rights. Milton v. Cohran, 147 So.2d 137 (Fla. 1962). See also, United States v. Ballard, 586 F.2d 1060, 1063 (5th Cir. 1978) holding that a noncoercive statement of possible penalties which an accused faces may be given to the accused without leading to an involuntary statement.

Petitioner attempts to distinguish Milton, supra, on the basis that in the case below imposition of the death penalty was not a possibility, and thus, was coercive legal advice. Frazier, supra, at 24 makes it clear that the truth or falsity of an inducement is irrelevant. The issue is whether the inducement is

of a nature calculated under the circumstances to induce a confession. In this case Officer Harris gave petitioner a truthful statement of what he thought was the proper penalty. Petitioner responded by denying the allegations. The trial court concluded the subsequent admission under all the circumstances was not an induced confession. As petitioner has failed to demonstrate why that finding is clearly erroneous and has failed to overcome the presumption of correctness accorded to the judge's conclusions, this Court should uphold the admission of the confession in the instant case.

ISSUE III (Restated)

PETITIONER IS PRECLUDED FROM RAISING FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL ALLEGED ERROR IN THE TRIAL COURT'S DECISION TO ALLOW THE VICTIM TO TESTIFY; REGARDLESS OF THE FAILURE TO TIMELY OBJECT, PETITIONER HAS NOT DEMONSTRATED AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION TO CONSTITUTE ERROR.

With regard to this issue, on the one hand, petitioner's attorney at trial urged the jurors to recognize how bright was and how well she understood and responded to the questions he asked her and to conclude her statement denying petitioner put his penis in her mouth was the truth. (T 352-353). On the other hand, petitioner now is taking the position that was incompetent to testify at trial inasmuch as the record demonstrates she did not understand the difference between a truth and a lie. Not only is petitioner estopped from raising this argument, see, McPhee v. State, 254 So.2d 406 (Fla. 1st DCA 1971), but petitioner never objected to testifying. The court specifically gave petitioner an opportunity to voir dire minimum, which opportunity was declined. (T 187). Even after changed her testimony on cross-examination (clearly related to the fact that petitioner was staring her down and was afraid of him), petitioner did not see fit to object on the basis that was incompetent to testify. After the indicated on proffer that she was scared of petitioner, she said she had told the

truth when she earlier testified petitioner had put his penis in her mouth. Petitioner did not see fit to object at that point on the grounds that she was incompetent to testify, and obviously so. Petitioner benefitted by inconsistent testimony. Neither did petitioner raise this objection at either motion for judgment of acquittal. Finally, petitioner is now asking for a new trial. However, petitioner never raised this issue in his motion for new trial.

Petitioner contends he need not object because a determination of competency is the duty of the trial court. The Florida Supreme Court was not persuaded by a similar argument in Lucas v. State, 376 So.2d 1149 (Fla. 1979). In Lucas, the defendant alleged error in allowing undisclosed rebuttal witnesses to testify without a Richardson inquiry. The court clearly had a duty under case law to conduct the inquiry. In refusing to address the issue the Florida Supreme Court stated, "This court will not indulge in the presumption that the trial judge would have made an erroneous ruling had an objection been made and authorities cited contrary to his understanding of the law." Id. at 1152. The rationale for the rule requiring contemporaneous objections is clear:

The requirement of a contemporaneous objection is based on practical necessity and basic fairness in the operation of a judicial system. It places the trial judge on notice that error may have been committed, and provides him an opportunity to correct it at an early stage of the

proceedings. Delay and an unnecessary use of the appellate process result from a failure to cure early that which must be cured eventually. . . Except in the <u>rare</u> cases of fundamental error, moreover, appellate counsel must be bound by the acts of trial counsel.

Castor v. State, 365 So.2d 701, 703 (Fla. 1978); see also, Leon v. State, 498 So.2d 680 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986).

Petitioner next argues no objection was required because the error was fundamental. As stated in <u>Clark v. State</u>, 363 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1978), fundamental error is error which goes to the foundation of the case or goes to the merits of the cause of action. In making this argument petitioner is failing to acknowledge testimony from mother, from Officers Harris and Livingston, Dr. Dulay, and most significantly, petitioner's confession. A thorough review of the record will indicate petitioner only stood to benefit from testimony and her inconsistent statements. Without the opportunity to show inconsistency in the statements and law enforcement officials would not have been questionable to the jurors in any manner. Clearly, fundamental error has not been demonstrated.

Petitioner next asks this Court to address the competency issue in the "interests of justice." Appellant relies on the case of <u>Davis v. State</u>, 348 So.2d 1228 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977), to support this request. The facts in this case do not indicate

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